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● (1530)

[English]
The Chair (Mr. Ken McDonald (Avalon, Lib.)): I now call this

meeting to order. Welcome to meeting 99 of the House of Com‐
mons Standing Committee on Fisheries and Oceans. This meeting
is taking place in a hybrid format, pursuant to the Standing Orders.

Before we proceed, I would like to make a few comments for the
benefit of witnesses and members. Please wait until I recognize you
by name before speaking. For those participating by video confer‐
ence, click on the microphone icon to activate your mic, and please
mute yourself when you are not speaking.

For interpretation, for those on Zoom you have the choice, at the
bottom of your screen, of floor audio, English or French; for those
in the room, you can use the earpiece and select the desired chan‐
nel.

As always, please remember to address all comments through the
chair.

Before we proceed, I again want to remind members and guests
to be very careful when handling the earpieces, especially when
your microphone or your neighbour's microphone is turned on. Ear‐
pieces placed too close to a microphone are one of the most com‐
mon causes of sound feedback, which is extremely harmful to inter‐
preters and causes serious injuries.

Pursuant to Standing Order 108(2) and the motion adopted on
June 16, 2022, the committee is commencing its study of the popu‐
lation sustainability of Yukon salmon stocks.

Welcome, everyone. On our first panel, on Zoom, from Little
Salmon Carmacks First Nation we have Chief Nicole Tom, and
from the Pacific Salmon Foundation we have Stephanie Peacock,
senior analyst. In person, from Kwanlin Dün First Nation, we have
Brandy Mayes, manager of operations, fish and wildlife, heritage,
lands and resources. Thank you for taking the time to appear today.
You will each have up to five minutes for your opening statement.

I'll go to Mr. Arnold, who has his hand up.
Mr. Mel Arnold (North Okanagan—Shuswap, CPC): Thank

you, Mr. Chair.

I would just ask that we carve out a few minutes towards the end
of this meeting to discuss some future committee work, keeping in
mind that we could potentially be interrupted by the bells and a
vote.

The Chair: Well, if everybody sticks to the time, we'll get
through our panels, and if there are 10 minutes or so left over at the
end, we'll go back to you, Mr. Arnold.

Mr. Mel Arnold: Thank you.
The Chair: I now give the floor to Brandy Mayes for five min‐

utes or less, please—
[Translation]

Mrs. Caroline Desbiens (Beauport—Côte-de-Beaupré—Île
d'Orléans—Charlevoix, BQ): Mr. Chair, excuse me, you didn't
see my hand.
[English]

The Chair: Go ahead, Madame Desbiens.
[Translation]

Mrs. Caroline Desbiens: I was signalling, but you didn't see me.
[English]

The Chair: No, I didn't.
[Translation]

Mrs. Caroline Desbiens: I, too, would like to discuss last week's
notice of motion. We've already agreed on certain points, so I think
we can do it quickly. We can also take a few minutes later, but be‐
fore would be better.
[English]

The Chair: We'll deal with both issues at the end.
[Translation]

Mrs. Caroline Desbiens: Okay.
[English]

The Chair: Ms. Mayes, I go over to you.
Ms. Brandy Mayes (Manager, Operations & Fish and

Wildlife I Heritage, Lands and Resources, Kwanlin Dün First
Nation): [Witness spoke in indigenous language]

[English]

It is good to see you.

I would like to begin by acknowledging that the land on which
we gather is the traditional unceded and unsurrendered territory of
the Algonquin Anishinabe people.

Thank you to the committee for this opportunity to speak on be‐
half of Yukon River chinook and my people.
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My name is Brandy Mayes, I am a proud descendant of the Tag‐
ish Kwan people, the original people of Kwanlin Dün First Nation
and Whitehorse, Yukon. I belong to the Dakhl’aweidí clan, the
Killer Whale and Wolf clan crest. The clan crest assures me I am
part of the land and part of the water. As a beneficiary of Kwanlin
Dün First Nation, my culture is who I am and where I come from.
My family has lived at the headwaters of the Yukon River, Chu
Níikwän as we call it, and Marsh Lake for generations.

Today, I am here in my role as manager of operations and fish
and wildlife for Kwanlin Dün First Nation. I am also a land steward
officer for my first nation. Additionally, I am the Canadian co-chair
for the newly formed Yukon River Panel's traditional knowledge
committee and first nations adviser to the Yukon River Panel. I
have been involved in fish and wildlife management for over a
decade, with a focus on indigenous knowledge, ethical harvesting
and land stewardship.

The waterway now called Miles Canyon through to the White‐
horse Rapids was well known to generations of first nations people.
Our ancestors called this area Kwanlin, which means “running wa‐
ter through canyon” in Southern Tutchone. Not only was this sec‐
tion of the river an excellent area for fishing, but well-worn trails
on the banks of the canyon tell of centuries of people travelling
overland in search of game. The banks of their river were lined
with fish camps, lookout points, hunting grounds, burial sites and
meeting places. Our values, language and traditions are rooted in
this land. The headwaters of the Yukon River were home to the
Tagish Kwan and a regular meeting place for people in other first
nations to come to trade and fish.

Life changed forever at the turn of the century with the building
of the city of Whitehorse. Our people have a long history and have
always had a relationship with salmon. Unfortunately, Yukon River
chinook salmon in Kwanlin Dün First Nation traditional territory
have been depleted to a point that our citizens have voluntarily re‐
duced or completely withdrawn from harvesting salmon.

This is one of the longest salmon migrations in the world. The
impacts to our culture, our people's health, food security and the
ecosystem, and thereby bears, eagles and others that depend on
these returns, are devastating. Pressures such as overfishing, ocean
commercial fishing, bycatch, climate change, predation and other
ecological factors have taken a toll on the chinook returns.

The 1958 completion of the Whitehorse Rapids dam flooded our
traditional fishing locations and put the productive culturally im‐
portant Michie Creek and M'Clintock River stocks in an uncertain
situation.

The water use licence for the Whitehorse dam will expire in
2025. KDFN is involved in the process and engaging our communi‐
ty. We are working to ensure that KDFN interests are represented
and prioritized throughout the dam relicensing process. This in‐
cludes the preservation or enhancement of KDFN environmental,
cultural and heritage values in the Southern Lakes region, as well as
the health and well-being of the KDFN community.

In 2023, the Whitehorse fish ladder saw the lowest count in his‐
tory, with only 54 chinook passing through the ladder. The Takhini

River, a tributary to the main stem Yukon River, counted just over
350. Those are nowhere near historical numbers.

The collapse of the salmon population is one of the greatest chal‐
lenges this region faces. We know the Yukon River Panel and gov‐
ernments of the U.S. and Canada have a role in managing the treaty
obligation, but the current management model isn't working. Chi‐
nook have been managed to near extinction.

The Alaskan ocean bycatch in the trawl fishery is impacting and
intercepting vital Yukon River salmon, not to mention the impacts
on the ocean habitat and ecosystem. Mass amounts of pink and
chum hatchery salmon being put into the system are competing
with the chinook salmon food source.

Our late Elder Louis Smith said, “You must save the salmon. If it
wasn’t for salmon there would not be one Indian left in the Yukon.
We would have all starved. Now it is our turn to save them.”

What are we going to do as a nation, Canada, to save the
salmon? As a country, how do we rebuild these life-giving salmon,
when they are facing so many barriers? To rebuild a population that
has been depleted to the point of near extinction is going to take ev‐
ery resource we have. It's going to take every effort we have.

● (1535)

This includes all levels of government on both sides of the bor‐
der. Stopping fishing is not enough.

Canada needs to dig deep into the impacts of the Whitehorse
generating station and its impacts on salmon, freshwater fish, ani‐
mals and habitat.

Canada needs to fulfill its treaty obligation to the Kwanlin Dun
First Nation Final Agreement under chapter 16.3.2.2, the White‐
horse fishway redevelopment project.

Canada needs to continue to provide capacity, money and re‐
sources to the Yukon River salmon rebuilding strategy and continue
to support Kwanlin Dün on the feasibility and development of a
salmon stewardship centre. That will support all Yukon first nations
in their rebuilding and restoration efforts as a gathering and teach‐
ing place, a restoration and research hub, and a centre for chinook
restoration.

Canada needs to work with Yukon first nations and their govern‐
ments to support cultural inclusion in the rebuilding strategy and to
have equal inclusion of both traditional knowledge and science in
all decision-making.
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This rebuilding plan has to include all levels of government, both
international and domestic, and the people who reside along the riv‐
er and its tributaries. The salmon need this. It is not just science that
has a role in how to recover these stocks. We need to recognize the
people who have relied on the salmon since time immemorial, the
people who have protected and who have had a relationship with
our precious relatives for thousands and thousands of years.

We need a commitment to ensure that our Yukon first nation citi‐
zens and governments are engaged in a holistic and meaningful
way. We need to collaborate and work together in honesty and re‐
spect. We need to recognize different government processes while
keeping momentum alive and striving towards consensus in deci‐
sion-making.

We need to uphold our shared commitments to the vital habitats
of the Southern Lakes region and to our salmon. As Elder Louis
Smith said, we must save the salmon. Salmon can be resilient if we
give them safe passage, clean water, a healthy habitat and a safe en‐
vironment.

Let's do this together, Canada. We need a wild river with wild
salmon. These things bring purpose. It is our responsibility as gov‐
ernments, as first nations, as Canadians—as humans.

When we take care of the river—
● (1540)

The Chair: Ms. Mayes, I have to cut you off there. It's gone way
over the five-minute limit. Hopefully, anything you didn't get to say
will come out in questioning.

We'll now go to Chief Nicole Tom from Little Salmon Carmacks
First Nation for five minutes or less, please.

Chief Nicole Tom (Little Salmon Carmacks First Nation):
[Witness spoke in Northern Tutchone]

[English]

I would like to acknowledge the attendants in the room who have
gathered here to pay respects to the Yukon River and the efforts to
call the salmon back.

As a Northern Tutchone mother from the Little Salmon Carma‐
cks First Nation, respect for the salmon has been ingrained in my
DNA since time immemorial. As a child, fish camp was the most
significant cultural bond and identity that was transferred every
year. Our family would gather elders, children, youth, mothers, fa‐
thers, aunties and uncles, and our family bonds were solidified.
Language, traditional laws, cultural values and oral stories were
transferred from one generation to the next. This was the centre of
the Northern Tutchone identity, tied to our keystone species, the
chinook salmon, and our keystone place, the Yukon River.

There is a physical, mental, emotional and spiritual connection to
a fish camp. The whole process from beginning to end is hard
work. Physically, you are actively engaged with the water, setting
net and carrying out various duties to run the fish camp. Mentally,
you have time to reflect and concentrate on your well-being. You
must be sober and in good mental health so as to not pass on any
negativity to the salmon preparation for your family. Emotionally,
your cup is full of laughter, wisdom, joy and love shared with the

environment, salmon and family. Spiritually, you are paying re‐
spects to the original agreements with the salmon by following your
traditional laws and values.

I quote from our history with regard to coexistence with other
animals: Traditional law, or “dooli”, is the most sincere expression
of respect that humans can offer. But what is respect? Consider the
contrasting viewpoints of the Northern Tutchone and modern sci‐
ence. Whereas science views salmon as a simpler life form operat‐
ing on basic instincts, much as a complicated little machine would
do, Northern Tutchone consider salmon to be a distinct culture, a
culture whose fortunes have been intertwined with the Northern
Tutchone for countless ages in an intricate relationship that has not
always been smooth. Crow, for instance, caught no salmon because
he created a permanent barrier/trap across the river. He had to learn
the lesson. And the salmon people were offended by their treatment
by humans, so they took the little boy to the ocean to teach proper
respect.

This, then, is how the Northern Tutchone view salmon, not as
primitive animals that are almost oblivious of humans, but as
equals, as intelligent beings that are fully aware of their surround‐
ings and what is happening to them, as persons who deserve the
same respect as the Northern Tutchone would receive if that person
were to give up their life for the survival of another.

Thus, it deeply pains us to witness any instances of disrespect to
the good salmon, on whom we rely every year for our health and
well-being. We fear that their role in the rhythms of nature is being
abused and that the entire ecosystem is in jeopardy. By bringing
back traditional knowledge, we are striving to redress this imbal‐
ance, as we have done in the past, but we are no longer alone in this
responsibility, and we desire that other cultures respect our con‐
cerns and work with us to achieve a more harmonious relationship
with the salmon and all life.

I was recently told a traditional knowledge story that came from
the Alaska territory. Elders knew that there would be plenty of
salmon when there were plenty of monarch butterflies. This tradi‐
tional knowledge was new to me and was never taught by my peo‐
ple. In curiosity, I researched the monarch butterfly and found that
it became endangered in 2016. Soon after, our salmon declined
drastically, so, you see, the knowledge held within the peoples of
the land is of value and can help restore the policies that are to the
detriment of the ecosystem.

The Yukon first nations would like to bring attention to the dev‐
astation that we are feeling in our hearts due to the decline of the
Yukon River salmon. We ask that all parties engage in the habitat
protection and attention to resources and capacity that are needed in
order for Yukon to proceed in this endeavour. We can no longer ar‐
gue or dispute the reason.
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We must now work in unity before the salmon becomes extinct.
This tragedy is a direct threat to our inherent rights to harvesting.
This alone makes the Northern Tutchone people question what has
happened to make it so. The mismanagement of the international
fisheries is an infringement on our treaty. Our forefathers sacrificed
lands for the right to feed their families with healthy homeland
foods. The treaty must be honoured. Traditional knowledge tells us,
“Don’t drag nets. Don’t mess with fish.”
● (1545)

These ancient laws have long been broken. We hold a responsi‐
bility to protect the rights to clean water and sustenance for future
generations. We ask that Canada and the United States champion
this initiative and that true reconciliation take place.

Mahsi cho for all your time.
The Chair: Thank you.

We'll now go to Stephanie Peacock, senior analyst with the Pa‐
cific Salmon Foundation.

You have five minutes or less, please.
Dr. Stephanie Peacock (Senior Analyst, Pacific Salmon Foun‐

dation): Thank you.

My name is Stephanie Peacock. I'm a senior analyst with the Pa‐
cific Salmon Foundation. I am based in Whitehorse, Yukon, and I
am joining you today from the traditional territories of the Kwanlin
Dün First Nation and the Ta’an Kwäch’än Council.

The Pacific Salmon Foundation is a non-governmental organiza‐
tion dedicated to the stewardship and conservation of Pacific
salmon in B.C. and the Yukon. We invest in community-driven ini‐
tiatives and lead science programs that help inform salmon conser‐
vation and management efforts.

My area of expertise is in salmon population ecology. My work
centres around compiling and analyzing salmon-related data to un‐
derstand the status of salmon in B.C. and the Yukon. Through that
work, I have gained familiarity with the status and trends of Cana‐
dian-origin Yukon chinook salmon—not just a uniform group of
fish but one comprised of 12 genetically and ecologically distinct
populations called “conservation units”.

Each of these conservation units has a unique evolutionary histo‐
ry and is an irreplaceable unit of biodiversity. Conserving this di‐
versity within Yukon chinook is essential for resilience in the face
of climate change. A recent study found that Yukon chinook return
migrations to Canada were 2.1 times longer and 1.4 times more sta‐
ble through time than they would have been if there was just a sin‐
gle homogeneous population.

Unfortunately, the reality is that we have very little information
on how most salmon conservation units are doing. The publicly
available data on Yukon salmon is focused on border passage.
There is not a single estimate in DFO's publicly available spawner
database for any chinook spawning in the Yukon since 2008. We
need to improve monitoring and data availability at the scale of
conservation units to be able to identify when and where actions are
required to avoid local extinctions and loss of biodiversity. From

the limited data that we do have, the recent declines in Yukon chi‐
nook seem to be reflected across conservation units.

Why are these salmon disappearing? There's no single cause.
The likely suspects are the usual—decades of habitat degradation
and loss. In the Yukon this is mainly due to mining and hydroelec‐
tric dams, commercial fishing and climate change. However, there
are a couple of things that make Yukon chinook unique. Canadian
Yukon chinook are the longest-migrating salmon in the world, and
this increases their exposure to threats in fresh water. In particular,
with climate change we are seeing unprecedented increases in river
temperatures, which has correlated with reduced productivity of
Yukon chinook over the past 28 years. This does not bode well, giv‐
en the predicted impacts of climate change. Strategies to mitigate
rising river temperatures and their impacts on salmon, such as the
protection of undeveloped watersheds and wetlands, need to be pri‐
oritized.

Yukon chinook are bilaterally managed under the Yukon River
Salmon Agreement of 2001, which recognizes that effective conser‐
vation and management are of mutual interest. However, harvest re‐
mains a primary focus of management, even as allowable catches
have declined to zero. Further, the Yukon River Panel has failed to
agree on management recommendations in recent years. In the face
of unprecedented declines, we need to re-examine this agreement
and sharpen the focus on biodiversity conservation and rebuilding.

The complexity of the life-cycle and management systems for
Yukon chinook necessitates a multipronged approach to recovery.
Management discussions must shift from border passage to preserv‐
ing the biodiversity within Canadian-origin Yukon chinook. Canada
can lead this discussion by supporting the monitoring and assess‐
ment of conservation units and improving access to data. There
needs to be pressure on the U.S. to prioritize effective salmon con‐
servation, as outlined in the Yukon River Salmon Agreement, and
reduce any illegal fishing or incidental mortality of chinook.

Although research into the drivers of these declines must contin‐
ue, we cannot wait for evidence to accumulate before taking actions
to prevent the extinction of Yukon chinook.

Thank you.

● (1550)

The Chair: Thank you for that.

We'll now go to our rounds of questioning.

To start off, we'll have Mr. Arnold for six minutes or less, please.

Mr. Mel Arnold: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I thank all three witnesses for their interesting information today.
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Ms. Peacock, I'd like to start off with you, please. Can you tell
the committee what type of chinook salmon inhabits the Yukon,
Alsek and Porcupine rivers? Are these river-type chinook or ocean-
type chinook? Do they spend time rearing in the river environment,
or are they quick in migrating out to sea?

Dr. Stephanie Peacock: They are river-type chinook. As I said,
because of their long migrations—these fish migrate over 2,000
kilometres upstream—they do spend time in fresh water rearing as
juveniles before making it to the ocean, so they're considered 1+ or
river-type chinook. Where they rear is variable, and because of the
length of the Yukon River, it's not easy to pinpoint important rear‐
ing habitats for these salmon. They have a lot of area that they can
use within the main stem of the Yukon.

Mr. Mel Arnold: Are there what are often referred to as S0s,
S1s, S2s, mixed stocks in those rivers, or are they all, basically, I
believe they would be called S1s or S2s, or river-type fish?

Dr. Stephanie Peacock: I believe it's the latter. I don't know
whether it is the case in the lower portions of the Yukon, but for
Canadian origin salmon, yes, it's rearing 1+ majority.

Mr. Mel Arnold: Is it known where these stocks migrate to
when they hit the open ocean?

Dr. Stephanie Peacock: There is a fairly good juvenile chinook
sampling program run by the Alaska Department of Fish and
Game. I'm not intimately familiar with the details of that sampling
program, but I know that they have found increased mortality at the
juvenile marine stages in recent years as well, so that's certainly be‐
ing looked at as a contributing factor to these declines.

Mr. Mel Arnold: I'll turn now to Ms. Mayes.

What do you see as the biggest risk to the health of the Yukon
salmon?

Ms. Brandy Mayes: I don't see one biggest risk. I see multiple
risks.

Of course, we're facing climate change, and with the warming
waters and the distance, the size of the fish that are coming back are
not the same as they used to be, therefore they are not producing
the number of eggs that they have, historically. We are in the pro‐
cess of needing more fish to get to the spawning grounds.

Another one that I really feel we need to address is the number of
hatchery fish from pink and chum that are being released into the
Bering Sea and the ocean. The trawlers are a huge component of
that.

Then, of course, on the Canadian side they are facing—because
it's the longest migration—the barrier of the Whitehorse Rapids
generating station or hydro plant, which has an inefficient ladder.
They're also facing juvenile mortality on the out-migration.

There's not just one. There are multiple. I'm sorry that I couldn't
give you one.

Mr. Mel Arnold: That's very interesting, because you led into
what was going to be one of my next questions for some of you, as
to what condition these fish are in when they do return to spawn.
You just said they're smaller. Do you believe that's an indication
that they have less food available, or is it something that's happened

through the genetics of the larger fish being harvested through vari‐
ous means and affecting the gene pool?

● (1555)

Ms. Brandy Mayes: There have been some studies on that and
the size of the fish. The large ones, back when there was fishing,
were the ones that were taken.

I go back to the traditional knowledge side of it. The indigenous
tribes along the Alaska side of the Yukon River would say that they
knew exactly when they had Canadian-origin fish because of the
size of the fish. They said they were oilier, heavier and relatively
larger in size, and they were harvested first. The genetics, of course,
are impacted by that. Over the years, what we're getting through is
more of a torpedo-shaped salmon now and of course that means we
need more of them on the spawning grounds in order to get their
numbers back up.

Mr. Mel Arnold: Chief Tom, can I ask you to basically answer
the same question? In what condition are the fish that you're seeing
returning in your area, and why do you think that might be?

Chief Nicole Tom: There are many reports of the fish looking
different, as we've heard. They're smaller and have more scars and
softer meat, and there's just an all around difference. When we get
them to prepare them, we will hear the grandmas say, “The fish
looks different.”

As we heard, there are many different factors playing into this.
We know that the environment in which they need to survive is suf‐
fering somehow, and this is an indication of what is happening. To
pinpoint it, we really don't know.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Arnold.

We now go to Mr. Hanley for six minutes or less, please.

Mr. Brendan Hanley (Yukon, Lib.): Thank you very much, and
thanks to the three of you for being here.

I also thank all the committee members who have supported
making this study finally happen. I'm thrilled that we're able to
have this discussion on such a critical issue, and I hope that, over
the next few meetings with witnesses, all of us will not only under‐
stand why this is a critical issue, not just for Yukon but for North
America, but also reflect on the concrete steps that can be taken to
address this situation.

Chief Tom, to start with you, in your opening comments you de‐
scribed yourself as a mother. I know you have a family, of whom
you're very proud, and you have a community right in the middle of
Yukon—the hub of the Yukon, as they say—Carmacks, Yukon, in a
very beautiful location. However, I wonder if you can describe the
impact on your community and family from the state of chinook
salmon, including the fish camps and the tradition around the fish
camps.
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Chief Nicole Tom: Our families and our community are in what
I call a collective trauma state. It's a heart wound. It's a soul wound.
It's affecting everything that we are. We are Little Salmon Carma‐
cks people. Without salmon, where are we going to go? We've been
infiltrated by the gold rush and residential schools, and we have a
lot of things that have already been taken from us and lost. At this
point, the culture, which is the epitome of our whole nation, is also
being lost, and that's the salmon.

There are so many things that play into the fish camp, and at this
point our fish camps are left empty—and you can see it all down
the Yukon River. This has been happening for very many years, and
it's absolutely devastating to our people. Our children, at Christ‐
mastime, made a Santa Claus, and they were asked to ask Santa
what they would like. In that Santa Claus's arms was a huge Chi‐
nook salmon, so all of those children are so feeling that devastation
that they wrote Santa and asked for the salmon to come back. Our
elders, who are used to the vitamin D and all these wonderful
omegas that come from it, they're feeling it in their bones. They just
want to have the salmon so badly. Everybody is trying to respect
that we can't do this right now, and we're taught to leave it alone.
It's “dooli” for us, so it's heartbreaking to see our community and
our people in such a devastating loss.
● (1600)

Mr. Brendan Hanley: Chief Tom, as a follow-up question, you
described that in a heart-rending way, but why should this be an im‐
portant issue for Canadians to know about and to reflect upon?
Why is this important for Canada, not just your community or
Yukon?

Chief Nicole Tom: We're all Canadians. We all love our home
on native lands. We are the true north, strong and free. We love hik‐
ing, biking, canoeing, skidooing and skating. We love our environ‐
ment. It's what makes us Canadians. We love the majestic moun‐
tains. We love the clear waters.

Currently Little Salmon Carmacks First Nation has an urgent
matter in our backyard. We have an old abandoned mine, the BYG
mine, and there's a threat that it could be leaking or bursting with
freshet. There are so many horrible and deadly contaminants in
there that would go into Dome Creek, the White River and the
Yukon River, the very ecosystem that is already suffering in terms
of the salmon. These issues are huge. It's ecocide. This is the death
of an environment. The salmon are only giving us an indication and
a message for all of our environment that we love as Canadians,
and that is why it is important. These things are happening to us
right now. We need to listen to the messages.

Mr. Brendan Hanley: Thank you so much.

I have a little bit of time left, so, Brandy, I wonder if you'd be
able to describe some of the key activities that Kwanlin Dün First
Nation is undertaking when you're looking at salmon restoration?

Ms. Brandy Mayes: Kwanlin Dün has taken on a number of ini‐
tiatives over the years. DFO doesn't have part of Stephanie's recol‐
lection in its files, but Kwanlin Dün has a Michie Creek salmon
monitoring restoration project that we've had for over 24 years.
That has been one of the longest runs in the world where the
salmon go to spawn. That is one where we've been doing the
restoration project. We keep that creek open. We've been moving

barriers. We count the redds. We do water temperature quality, wa‐
ter quality. We do a number of initiatives on that one. We've been
doing that for a while.

We also have the Takhini River sonar project, which is where
we're looking at what the numbers are coming to. The Takhini is a
tributary to the Yukon River and is a big salmon river. It's very im‐
portant to us to look at what kinds of numbers are coming back up
there, so we can look at restoration efforts in that system.

Besides all the other formal—
Mr. Brendan Hanley: I'll probably have to get you to continue

in the next round.
Ms. Brandy Mayes: Okay, yes, and then there are chinooks.
Mr. Brendan Hanley: If we don't get time, you could submit

that in writing.
Ms. Brandy Mayes: Okay.
The Chair: We'll now go to Madame Desbiens for six minutes

or less, please.
[Translation]

Mrs. Caroline Desbiens: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

With all due respect for the issue we're studying today, I have to
use my speaking time to discuss my motion. It's an urgent matter,
so I have to spend my six minutes on it.

I also have an announcement. Today, the National Assembly of
Quebec unanimously adopted a motion to inform the federal gov‐
ernment that it is concerned about quota allocations being too low,
about the possible disappearance of the shrimp fishery, and about
the dangers to which shrimp fishers in our part of Quebec are ex‐
posed.

As I said, this motion was passed unanimously just a few hours
ago. I would like us to discuss the importance of undertaking two
studies on how DFO approaches this and the criteria it uses to make
decisions about the lives and livelihoods of shrimp fishers in Que‐
bec, decisions that affect every one of their communities.
● (1605)

[English]
The Chair: Can we deal with that at the end? We have a couple

of motions. You have four minutes.
[Translation]

Mrs. Caroline Desbiens: I think we can do that. This is my
speaking time, and I can use it for this.
[English]

The Chair: Yes.
[Translation]

Mrs. Caroline Desbiens: I think it'll be quick.

May I read my motion?
[English]

The Chair: Okay.
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[Translation]
Mrs. Caroline Desbiens: Given the significant decline in shrimp

biomass, the low redfish allocation for shrimp harvesters, the possi‐
ble disappearance of the shrimp industry and the impact on fishers,
crew and processing plant owners and employees, as well as coastal
communities and businesses; and, given the urgency, I move:

That, in accordance with Standing Order 108(2), the committee undertake a
study of the scales used by the Department of Fisheries and Oceans (DFO) to set
redfish quotas, in particular those announced by the Minister on January 26,
2024, in order to assess the extent of their effects on the shrimp fishing industry;
that the committee allocate at least two meetings to conduct this study; that the
February 27 meeting be allocated to hear from the Minister and senior DFO offi‐
cials so they can answer the committee’s questions for two hours, and that the
February 29 meeting be allocated to hear from any witnesses the committee
deems necessary; and that the committee report its findings and recommenda‐
tions to the House.

[English]
The Chair: Mr. Cormier has his hand up.

[Translation]
Mr. Serge Cormier (Acadie—Bathurst, Lib.): Yes, Mr. Chair.

I'd like to propose a minor amendment to this motion. I can read
it, and then I can send it to the committee.

The end of Ms. Desbiens' motion reads “that the committee re‐
port its findings and recommendations to the House.”

That would be replaced by “that the committee draft a letter at
the end of the study with its recommendations to the Minister for a
plan to assist the shrimp industry.”

[English]

At the end, then, instead of what I just read, it will be, “That the
committee draft a letter at the end of the study with its recommen‐
dation to the minister for a plan to assist the shrimp industry.”

I'm going to send it to the clerk right now.
The Chair: Is there any other discussion?
Mr. Mel Arnold: Can we just suspend for a couple of minutes?
The Chair: Okay, we'll suspend for a couple of minutes.

● (1605)
_____________________(Pause)_____________________

● (1610)

The Chair: First off, does everybody have a copy of the amend‐
ment by Mr. Cormier?

Is there any discussion?

Not hearing any discussion, we'll vote on the amendment, or is
everybody fine with it?

Mr. Mel Arnold: We have no opposition to the amendment.
The Chair: Okay, so there is no opposition from you guys and

nothing from our side.

Madame Desbiens, you are okay with the addition, with the
amendment, are you?

[Translation]
Mrs. Caroline Desbiens: Given the urgency of the situation, I

think the letter may be the best way to get back to the fishers quick‐
ly.

(Amendment agreed to)

[English]
The Chair: All right, now we'll go to the motion as amended.
Mr. Serge Cormier: Mr. Chair, I just want to clarify one thing,

just to make sure that the clerk understands: It was the removal of
the report by...?

Okay, that's perfect.
The Chair: Mr. Arnold, go ahead.
Mr. Mel Arnold: Thank you.

We seem to have a lot of new studies stacking up. One comes in
and it displaces one that's already on the docket, and then another
one comes in and it replaces the most recent study—
● (1615)

Ms. Lisa Marie Barron (Nanaimo—Ladysmith, NDP): I have
a point of order, Mr. Chair. I'm sorry, to my colleague. It's just that
the translation is not working.

The Chair: There's no translation?
Mr. Mel Arnold: I can try again to see—
The Chair: Okay, try again, Mel.
Mr. Mel Arnold: Okay. We seem to be having a lot of study mo‐

tions coming in. One replaces or displaces motions and studies that
we already have on the docket, and the next time around we have a
motion for another study to displace what we agreed to in the last
meeting.

I suggest, Mr. Chair, that we should probably have a subcommit‐
tee meeting to discuss some of this and to try to determine the
workflow and work plan in the near future.

With that I'll turn it over to others.
The Chair: Actually, I agree to a certain extent, Mr. Arnold. We

should pretty soon have an hour or so dedicated to committee busi‐
ness to look at what's already in the bucket to be done and what
new ones have come in, and see where and when things are going
to fit.

Between now and June there's really not a lot of time. We have
one sitting week in March. Then it's April, May, June and we're
done. We should try to do that no later than Thursday of this week,
or we should try to do it when we first come back from the break
week, to try to nail this down.

Again, I'll go back to the motion as amended.

I know it was asked that we have February 27 and February 29,
but that may not happen. We will have an hour or so dedicated to
just committee business when we come back after next week's
break, to look at the schedule and see where we can fit things in.
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We have witnesses lined up for Thursday already, for the Yukon
salmon study. I don't want to cancel on them right now, because
they're making arrangements.

Go ahead, Mr. Arnold.
Mr. Mel Arnold: We also still have to provide drafting instruc‐

tions for the IUU study. Hopefully we can do that before all of our
memories fade as to what we've heard.

Thank you.
The Chair: Yes.

Is everyone okay with the motion as amended?

(Motion as amended agreed to)

The Chair: Ms. Barron, go ahead for six minutes or less, please.
Ms. Lisa Marie Barron: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I want to thank all of the witnesses for being here. There's lots of
really great testimony that will help us in our work on this impor‐
tant topic.

Mr. Chair, this should take only one minute at most. It pertains to
this study, which is why I'm bringing it up now. I did provide a mo‐
tion to my colleagues. I believe the clerk has it to circulate as well.
As it pertains to the study we're talking about today, I just want to
move:

That the committee include—

The word “include” is in there.
—two hours of witness testimony in its study on the population sustainability of
the Yukon salmon stocks focused on transboundary issues related to the long-
term health of B.C. wild salmon populations.

It's become increasingly evident as we've been listening to wit‐
nesses that this motion is important to expand the study slightly.
However, it won't take more time. It will be included within the
study at hand.

The Chair: Thank you.

We've heard the terms of the motion.

Mr. Arnold, go ahead.
Mr. Mel Arnold: To add clarity, the paper document that was

circulated had the words “add two hours”. The motion—
The Chair: She actually changed it to “include” on the one that I

have.
Mr. Mel Arnold: Okay, so we'd agree to that with the wording

changed.

Thank you.
The Chair: All right.

Is everybody okay with the motion as presented?

(Motion agreed to)
Ms. Lisa Marie Barron: That's great.

Can I move on with my line of questioning?
The Chair: Yes. You still have four and a half minutes.

Ms. Lisa Marie Barron: All right.

There has been lots of great testimony provided today.

My first question is for Dr. Peacock.

You spoke about the lack of public data available since 2008.
Can you tell us a bit more about the lack of data, the implications of
the lack of data, and any further information you'd like to provide?

Dr. Stephanie Peacock: Sure. It's a great opportunity to elabo‐
rate on that. I'd like to point out that as Brandy said, a lot of moni‐
toring is happening, and first nations have taken amazing leadership
on monitoring salmon within their territories.

I think one of the issues is that there hasn't been leadership by
DFO on centralizing and making data available. Even though
there's also DFO-led monitoring on a number of sonar projects,
those data are largely made public through the joint technical com‐
mittee meetings and the Yukon River Panel meetings. They're real‐
ly buried in hundreds of pages of PDF reports from which you can‐
not easily extract numbers. They're not provided in an analyzable
format.

In the work I do to try to understand salmon populations, to share
that information publicly and to create a common baseline under‐
standing of how salmon are doing, it's extremely challenging to dig
these data out of reports and copy them line by line. I can't even
copy and paste out of the joint technical committee reports, because
they are password-protected.

I think accessibility is a major issue here. DFO has historically
been charged with compiling and analyzing data and making it ac‐
cessible. Increasingly we're seeing that data collection happens by
first nations. Kudos to them. It does mean that there's a bit of a gap
in that larger-picture understanding. That's what I really see as a
role that needs to be filled.

● (1620)

Ms. Lisa Marie Barron: Thank you so much, and hopefully I
won't put you in a position, Ms. Mayes, where you're cut off again
at the end.

You talked about the importance of indigenous knowledge going
hand in hand with science. I'm wondering if you can expand on that
a little, because I think it relates to what we were just talking about.

Ms. Brandy Mayes: I can, absolutely.

When we look at both knowledge systems, they're equally im‐
portant, but we tend to put indigenous knowledge aside and recog‐
nize most of the science.

When you actually look at what's happening on the Yukon River,
the people who live along the river are the people who actually
know what's happening. They've maintained the salmon popula‐
tions and had a relationship with salmon for thousands of years, and
they've not depleted it. Then we look at how we've been managing
this by science, and we're in trouble. It's been by the numbers only
and it's been quantitative, and it hasn't been looking at what is hap‐
pening in the river.
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We look at what the Pilot Station site says, and it says that this is
the science. It looks at the numbers coming through, and it says
we're going to manage to the upper level in terms of how many
salmon we can take out of that system, when the indigenous people
are saying, no, we actually have to slow down.

Our people have been saying for 20 years that we need to slow
down in fishing. We need to recognize that we need to not take all
the first run, because those are the first ones that are going to get
through it. They're the fast ones. They're the males. Then people
say, “Okay—it's the middle of the run, so we're going to take the
next ones.” As people on the river, we know those are the bigger
salmon. Those are the slower females that are coming through. We
know we need to get those females through, and that's why we don't
take that big pulse in the second run. We take the first ones because
we know there are still more males coming.

This is just traditional knowledge, and that is the actual knowl‐
edge from seeing what's happening on the river. That's why it's so
important to take that into consideration when we're looking at de‐
veloping and rebuilding a plan, or even when we're managing with‐
in the “in season”, as they call it.

The Chair: You have 20 seconds.
Ms. Lisa Marie Barron: That's okay. I'm not going to put any of

our witnesses in a position of trying to answer something in 15 sec‐
onds.

The Chair: Okay. Thank you.

We have five more minutes left in our opening hour. I believe
Mr. Bragdon is next, and if he could keep it to under five, that
would be great.

Mr. Richard Bragdon (Tobique—Mactaquac, CPC): There
was no hint in there was there, Mr. Chair?

It's good to be with you. I want to thank each of the witnesses
today. Thank you for taking the time. We're honoured to have you
join us. Thanks to our colleague Mr. Hanley for pushing to make
sure this happened and for his passion around this issue. It's so im‐
portant and so vital.

I hope someday to have the opportunity to visit the beautiful
Yukon territory. I've never been to the Yukon, but hopefully that
will happen at some point.

Hearing your stories and hearing about the obvious significance
and connection between the salmon and your peoples is powerful
indeed.

I'm a practical person. I know I'm not as technical or scientific,
but could you just step back and look at it through a layman's lens
and cut right through all of the data and the information, which is
all very important, and bring it down to what you would rank as the
top three biggest challenges? I know there are numerous chal‐
lenges, but what are the top three biggest challenges to which you
feel we could get a solution the fastest or have action and practical
steps taken the fastest to get us closer to seeing a rehabilitation of
the stocks in your rivers?

I know it's kind of a big, broad, open question, but I think a lot of
people listening today want to know what we can do with respect to
temperatures and things like that overall. They're big challenges

that are going to be with us for a long time. I don't know if there's
anything immediate, especially by one nation, that is going to fix or
solve that problem, but perhaps there are things within our control
locally that we can do.

I'll start with you, Ms. Mayes, and then I'd be interested in hear‐
ing from Dr. Peacock and of course from Chief Tom. That's my
long preamble, but now it's over to you to answer the big question.

● (1625)

Ms. Brandy Mayes: Thank you.

We for sure will welcome you to the Yukon if you come and visit
us, and we'll show you a good time.

Well, there's not just one thing, but I would like to say that num‐
ber one for Kwanlin Dün is that we are looking at the agreements
under chapter 16, and we need a new fishway. A new fishway is
one thing. It's not going to be immediate. It's going to take time,
and it's going to take a lot of resources and money. We need one to
be done for in-migration and out-migration. We need to look at the
impacts from that dam. We need to continue the studies. There is
some work being done there. That is number one for Kwanlin Dün.

The stewardship centre is looking at whether we can do a small
restoration stewardship or conservation hatchery for which we can
look at taking some of the brood stock that's left to make sure we
can restore some of these creeks.

I think number three for us would be having some support for the
rebuilding strategy and working with the U.S. on ocean bycatch. I
think that's a number one thing for us on the other side.

Mr. Richard Bragdon: Well done. Thank you. That was a big
question.

With the time I have here, I'll go quickly over to you, Dr. Pea‐
cock. Then I definitely want to hear from Chief Tom. Try to keep it
as succinct as you can. Give me the top three.

Dr. Stephanie Peacock: I don't have much to add over what
Brandy said. She did an amazing job.

I think, with the Whitehorse dam, the key is that although that
will take time, the opportunity is immediate. As she said, the li‐
cence is being renegotiated now for 2025. That's an immediate op‐
portunity. Again, as she said, it's putting pressure on our partners
across the border in the U.S. to limit the illegal and incidental mor‐
tality of chinook. Those are immediate changes.

Other things are going to be hard and take time, but we also need
to start on those sooner rather than later.

Mr. Richard Bragdon: Thank you.

Chief Tom, go ahead.

Chief Nicole Tom: Yes, come visit the Yukon. You will enjoy
yourself.
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I would say that the three would include the agreement we have
with Alaska, which needs to be negotiated. I would also say regu‐
lating the mine-contaminated water discharge into the tributary
spawning areas in the Yukon River. I would say that the third thing
would be the dam.

Mr. Richard Bragdon: That's excellent.

Is that my time?
The Chair: You have 30 seconds.
Mr. Richard Bragdon: I'll do the same thing. I'll be very kind. I

don't want to cut them off.

You all did great. Thank you.

That's all.
The Chair: That concludes our first hour of testimony with our

witnesses.

I want to say thank you to Brandy Mayes, Dr. Peacock and Chief
Nicole Tom for attending today in person and by Zoom and for
sharing their knowledge with the committee on this very important
study.

If there's anything you think of that you would like to include in
any of the answers to questions you were asked, please, by all
means, send it in to the clerk, and we'll make sure it becomes part
of the discussion.

We're going to take a short suspension while we change out.

Everybody is on Zoom for the next hour or so.

We're suspended for a moment.
● (1625)

_____________________(Pause)_____________________

● (1630)

The Chair: Welcome back, everyone.

Before we proceed, I would like to make a few comments for the
benefit of the witnesses who just joined us.

Please wait until I recognize you by name before speaking. For
those participating by video conference, click on the microphone
icon to activate your mic, and please mute yourself when you are
not speaking.

There is interpretation for those on Zoom, which means all the
witnesses for this session. You have the choice at the bottom of
your screen of floor audio, English or French.

Also, I simply want to remind members to be very careful when
handling the earpieces, especially when your microphone or your
neighbour's microphone is turned on. An earpiece that's placed too
close to a microphone is one of the most common causes of sound
feedback, which is extremely harmful to interpreters and causes se‐
rious injury.

Welcome, witnesses.

We have today, in our second panel, by Zoom, as an individual,
Bathsheba Demuth, dean's associate professor of history and envi‐
ronment and society at Brown University. We also have Mr. Dennis

Zimmermann, fish and wildlife consultant, Pacific Salmon Treaty
Panel member, Big Fish Little Fish Consultants. From Beaver Vil‐
lage Council, we have Chief Rhonda Pitka, and from the the Coun‐
cil of Yukon First Nations, we have Elizabeth MacDonald.

We will begin with opening statements.

We'll go with Bathsheba Demuth for five minutes or less for an
opening statement.

● (1635)

Dr. Bathsheba Demuth (Dean's Associate Professor of Histo‐
ry and Environment and Society, Brown University, As an Indi‐
vidual): Thank you, Mr. Chair.

It's an honour to speak with you today. I'd like to start my brief
remarks by framing who I am. I'm an environmental historian cur‐
rently writing a book about the relationship between people and
ecology along the Yukon watershed over the past two centuries, so
salmon and the way salmon stocks have been managed clearly have
a lot to do with this story.

As part of this work, I've been travelling the river, particularly,
up to this point, on the Alaska side, by boat and by dog team, as
well as working with archival sources and scientific research.

What is clear from this at a very general but, I think, critical
point is that salmon are an integral part of Alaska native and first
nations communities' lives as well as those of other subsistence
users along the Yukon River and its tributaries. This has been true
for as long as there have been people along this river.

Today, fish camps are places of cultural sharing, language learn‐
ing and social revitalization, so being able to fish is an issue of food
security and environmental justice. I know that members of this
committee are travelling to Yukon to speak with first nations and
people on the ground, so I will focus briefly on three points that
have emerged from my interviews and general research around set‐
tlement, mineral extraction and the regulatory challenge that cli‐
mate change poses for the Yukon River treaty.

First, with respect to settlement, I'm going to generalize here
substantially, because the Yukon is very long, but a key historical
adaptation to living in the Yukon's Arctic and subarctic ecologies
has been for societies to move, to be fully or partly nomadic, so that
when, say, a caribou migration pattern changed, people could adjust
where they lived and hunted to be able to intersect with both cari‐
bou and salmon.
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Since the acts of colonization by the United States and Canada,
particularly through compulsory education, first nations and Alaska
native peoples have become far less mobile, because you can't
move a village like Old Crow just because the caribou are in a dif‐
ferent place, but you can build communities near good salmon fish‐
ing. So the colonial expectation of permanence has made salmon a
particularly critical resource for indigenous communities, both cul‐
turally and economically. I wish to underscore the critical need for
salmon in communities along the Yukon that are at the end of the
global supply chain so that food is expensive and sometimes simply
unreliable. This fact makes salmon a critical food security issue.

Second, I'll discuss the history of mineral extraction and salmon.
In some ways, this is a familiar history that starts with the Yukon
gold rush near the Klondike River, intersects with salmon and their
need for spawning streams, and continues through the Faro mine
and other large-scale mineral projects. Residents along the river
have emphasized to me over the last several years how concerned
they are that this history is not over due to potential land with‐
drawals by the Bureau of Land Management in the United States on
the d-1 lands, which would be familiar to Alaskans, as well as the
Manh Choh mine and the proposed Ambler Road, all of which
would impact Yukon River tributaries.

Historically the wealth that has been generated from mining
projects has not stayed in local communities, while the harms have.
All along the river, I've heard concern that this history of environ‐
mental injustice is likely to be repeated, in part because the discus‐
sion of salmon futures is so often separated from that of mining and
economic development writ large.

Third and finally, the Yukon salmon treaty and the Yukon River
Panel, as my fellow panellists here all know, are charged with set‐
ting annual goals to ensure that enough spawning salmon are able
to meet the minimum sustainable escapement numbers by regulat‐
ing the quantity of fishing that happens in the Yukon River. When
the treaty was signed in 2001, I believed that this was a sensible
move based on the history of commercial and subsistence fishing
for Yukon salmon, both of which occurred primarily in rivers, but
of course, Yukon salmon spend most of their lives not in the Yukon
but in the Bering Sea, which is an ecosystem that is experiencing
such a rapid degree of change that I'm basically out of superlatives,
as the climate warms and where there are additional ecological
pressures from the pollock fishery, which removes some three bil‐
lion pounds of biomass from the Bering Sea basin every year.

Every person I have spoken to on the Yukon River Panel is
deeply dedicated to having generations of salmon, but in this con‐
temporary environment they do not necessarily have the levers to
pull to address either bycatch or the changing climate.

Essentially, the Yukon River Salmon Agreement lays out 20th-
century tools for what are becoming very 21st-century problems—
climate change and ecosystem change due to intensive harvesting.
● (1640)

I want to leave my remarks here by noting that people do have
tens of thousands of years of experience in living well with salmon,
and, in fact, this is the normal historical experience for salmon and
people, so it is a thing that can be done.

Thank you.

The Chair: Thank you for that.

We'll now go to you, Mr. Zimmermann, for five minutes or less,
please, for your opening statement.

Mr. Dennis Zimmermann (Fish and Wildlife Consultant and
Pacific Salmon Treaty Panel Member, Big Fish Little Fish Con‐
sultants, As an Individual): Thank you.

Thank you for the opportunity to address this esteemed commit‐
tee today. My name is Dennis Zimmermann. I reside at Whitehorse,
Yukon, on the traditional territories of the Kwanlin Dün First Na‐
tion and the Ta’an Kwäch'än Council.

There are various hats I wear related to salmon. I am a member
of the land claim-established Yukon Salmon Sub-Committee, and I
also sit as a Canadian representative on two international salmon
treaty tables: the Yukon River Panel, chapter 8 of the Pacific
Salmon Treaty, and the Transboundary Panel, chapter 1 of the Pa‐
cific Salmon Treaty. I'm a respective Government of Canada and
recreational fishery nominee through those two processes.

First and foremost, I want to acknowledge the significance of
this specific inquiry and the unique importance of the Yukon River
chinook salmon.

Briefly, Yukon River chinook were historically large, old and
prominent, in that returning adults would often travel in river and
over 3,000 kilometres to their spawning grounds in Canada. I've of‐
ten talked to Alaskans who catch both Canadian-origin and U.S.-
origin chinook, and they speak of the Canadian “king” salmon as
leaving puddles of fat on the ground when they put them up in their
smokehouse. This nutritional value is highly prized in communities
that have severe food security concerns.

I should also identify that with the lens through which I work
with salmon—and I often find I'm in the minority—my work has
always been centred around community values, human dimensions
and the intricate socioecological systems that surround these cher‐
ished species. I also work within the philosophy that if people, first
nations, recreational fishers and the general public are not interact‐
ing with salmon in some way, they are not likely to care nor wish to
support it.
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Having worked with various Yukon first nations on a number of
community-based salmon plans, I've witnessed first-hand the pro‐
found impacts that the decline of salmon populations has had on
cultures, peoples and ecosystems throughout the territory. As we
know, the life history of Pacific salmon has faced multiple stressors
at all life stages, many of which have recently been exacerbated by
the effects of climate change.

Very briefly, in delving into the causality of this crisis, one needs
to reflect on past fishery practices, where it's evident that the maxi‐
mum sustainable yield approaches, coupled with uncertainties in
run-size projections and a reluctance to manage in-season fisheries,
took their toll on chinook salmon populations and essentially beat
down their resilience over the years.

Over decades, we've witnessed the loss of older-year classes and
of larger, more fecund fish, ultimately resulting in a shift towards
fewer, younger and smaller salmon returning. We call this “quality
of escapement”, which is not generally accepted within the treaty as
a metric to meet escapement goals. In my opinion, there was not
enough risk-and-precautionary principle built into the management
regimes, whereby treaty escapement goals were considered to be
met by achieving a bottom end of ranges and putting just enough
Canadian-origin fish into the spawning grounds.

Despite a proliferation of science often thrown at Yukon River
chinook—what we often refer to as the counting and measuring ap‐
proach—the status quo has failed to effectively address the decline
in salmon populations. Approximately two decades ago, Yukon first
nation voices began sounding the alarm, particularly at the headwa‐
ters in Canada, with the Teslin Tlingit Council, where at every
meeting elders like Madeleine Jackson would advocate for volun‐
tary subsistence fishery closures in Canada and across the river.

These community voices continue to sound and have moved con‐
sistently downriver to the point where we are now, where the im‐
pacts are being felt from the headwaters to the ocean. All 50-plus
communities that depend in some way on Yukon River chinook in
Alaska and Yukon are suffering, no longer fishing, and, most im‐
portantly, losing their connection to salmon culture.

Unfortunately, this is another fishery that has shown us that man‐
agement decisions often lag behind the pace of the resource de‐
cline. It is with heavy hearts that we must acknowledge that there
may be no fisheries into the foreseeable future. Despite the bleak
outlook, we can't lose hope, and we need to continue fighting for
Yukon River salmon. Now is the time to ensure that science does
not go alone and that we employ all the tools in the tool box.

This means, in my opinion, enhanced investments in community-
based stewardship efforts, maximizing the value of the few fish that
are returning through ceremony, language, story and knowledge
transfer. Through small-scale restoration efforts, this may include a
variety of habitat restoration efforts, or indigenous-led conservation
hatcheries, as an example.

Also, it means maintaining advocacy and diplomatic efforts
within the United States and the international community and con‐
tinuing to advocate for Canadian-origin chinook returns to spawn‐
ing grounds, as well as coordinating efforts on the high seas as it

relates to bycatch, unregulated international fisheries and produc‐
tion hatcheries in the Bering Sea.

Finally, I'm hopeful that with the continued support of the De‐
partment of Fisheries and Oceans, Yukon first nations and other
partners, our current efforts towards a holistic Yukon River chinook
rebuilding plan will provide the blueprint and momentum to help
conserve and rebuild our populations so that future generations may
maintain that sacred connection to salmon.

● (1645)

Thank you for your time.

The Chair: Thank you.

We'll now go to Chief Rhonda Pitka for five minutes or less.

Go ahead, please.

Chief Rhonda Pitka (Chief, Beaver Village Council): Thank
you for the invitation to appear before this committee to assist in
building greater understanding of the crisis involving Yukon River
chinook salmon and the impacts this crisis has had on indigenous
peoples in Alaska as well as Canada.

I am Chief Rhonda Pitka of Beaver, Alaska. Beaver is a small
fly-in-only community on the Yukon River, just south of the Arctic
Circle, and the first community downriver of all the confluences of
the Porcupine River and the Yukon River. I am chairwoman of the
Council of Athabascan Tribal Governments, a consortium that
serves nine tribes in the Yukon Flats of Alaska. I am also a public
member of the federal subsistence board and a member of the
Yukon River Panel.

Our people have historically relied on chinook and chum as our
main food sources and as a central part of our culture and way of
life. Our people are “salmon people”. Our health and the health of
the salmon are inextricably linked. What befalls the salmon befalls
our people. Over the past 20 years we have seen stocks of Yukon
River chinook and chum salmon obliterated by numerous chal‐
lenges, all of human origin, all originating from outside our small
communities along the Yukon River.

As the stocks of salmon have dwindled, our food security has be‐
come imperiled. The smokehouses that used to be filled with a win‐
ter's supply of salmon sit empty. Our children's critical link to our
food culture and way of life has been severed. We have not had
salmon for funeral potlatches for our people. In the last four years
of no harvest, this crucial religious and cultural ceremony need has
not been met. There are not enough salmon to feed my community
or the communities of the Upper Yukon River in Alaska that I rep‐
resent or our relatives in Canada along the Yukon River and Porcu‐
pine River. That much is clear.
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We have not fished in the last four years. We have not had a sub‐
sistence harvest that has met our needs. We've been told that our
subsistence harvest is the reason we have not had returns of salmon.
That is simply not true. Subsistence accounts for less than 1% of
the total take of statewide harvesting of fish and other resources.

The subsistence fishers of Alaska have generously given their
traditional knowledge to the State of Alaska and the U.S. Fish &
Wildlife Service. Without this traditional knowledge, it is difficult
for managers to have a clear idea as to whether their models of the
run are correct. The managers use the number of salmon coming in
at Pilot Station to estimate the run size and abundance of Canadian-
origin chinook salmon. There is currently no mid-river sonar to
“ground truth” that estimate.

The subsistence harvest helps management by giving in-season
information on the timing of the run and the size of the run and on
whether the estimates at the mouth of the Yukon River are accurate.
The accuracy of the run size and timing are dependent on the
knowledge of those fishermen along the Yukon River.

The chinook salmon fishery disaster hinders the customary and
traditional selling, bartering and trading economy of the fishery.
This is absolutely the case along the Yukon River, where depleted
salmon runs have prevented our people from fishing and from par‐
ticipating in traditional economic practices of selling, bartering and
trading Yukon River salmon. We used to have extensive traditional
bartering networks and community relations, which have been
strained because we have not had enough salmon to trade. The
backbone of our livelihood is the traditional salmon fishery. The
subsistence fishery is the primary economy in our region. Where
I'm from, in the Village of Beaver, we do not have grocery stores.
We don't have access to regular fresh food that people have, so we
have to fly in food if we don't have it on the ground.

Furthermore, totally unaddressed through existing federal pro‐
cesses is the loss of tribal food sovereignty and food security and
the loss of the ability to teach our children and transmit indigenous
knowledge related to salmon stewardship, including providing for
healthy salmon and salmon populations, processing, preparation
and storing. Entire social networks, health and well-being have
been devastated. Our children have never handled salmon. Our
fishermen slump into depression, while domestic violence incidents
and suicide increase along with increases in substance abuse, be‐
cause our people are not fishing.

● (1650)

The loss of the Yukon River salmon and the cultural activities
and spiritual values associated with salmon fishing are devastating
our communities and villages.

Our tribes are not sitting idle. While the state and federal govern‐
ments have continued conducting studies on the impacts of climate
change, debating the impacts of bycatch in intercept fisheries and
subsidizing commercial fisheries, here is what our tribes have been
doing.

We have not fished. We implemented a self-imposed moratorium
in 2014 in order to allow salmon to make the spawning grounds.
This resulted in meeting the border passage goals into Canada in

2014. We have left our fish camps empty. Many of our children
have not fished in their lifetimes.

We were told to buy seven-and-a-half inch nets as one of the
management ways to change the numbers of salmon that we were
getting, so we did that. We changed our net sizes to six-inch nets.
When that didn't work, we bought four-inch nets for our people.

We've educated ourselves on ocean fishery science. As a fisher‐
woman along the Yukon River, the ocean is not where I'm from, but
I've had to educate myself on things that are way outside of my
purview.

We have spent thousands of hours and dollars on advocacy and
legal action around the fisheries in our region—

The Chair: I'm going to have to stop it there, Chief Pitka, be‐
cause it's gone way over the five minutes. Hopefully, anything you
didn't get to say will come out in the lines of questioning.

I'll go to Elizabeth MacDonald now for five minutes or less,
please.

Mrs. Elizabeth MacDonald (Council of Yukon First Nations):
Thank you very much for inviting me to participate today in the
study.

My name is Elizabeth MacDonald. I'm the manager of fisheries
at the Council of Yukon First Nations. In this position I support the
work of the Yukon First Nation Salmon Stewardship Alliance,
which is our local AAROM. I'm also one of the vice-chairs of the
Yukon Salmon Sub-Committee, which is an advisory body created
under the Umbrella Final Agreement. For that role, I was nominat‐
ed by the Vuntut Gwitchin government as a Porcupine River
salmon representative.

I'm going to focus on the Yukon River salmon because Alsek
River salmon are doing relatively better. I did provide additional in‐
formation in a briefing note as well.

Chinook are the most significant salmon in the main stem of the
Yukon River as both a food species and a culturally significant
salmon. They are highly dispersed, with over 100 documented
spawning locations. They are unique since no other salmon mi‐
grates as far, with the furthest migration being 3,200 kilometres.
This is part of why they are so important, as they provide many
people and habitats with food and nutrients.

Unfortunately, the salmon have been experiencing widespread
declines and changes for some time. Traditional knowledge-keepers
in the communities say this decline started before western science
in the 1980s. Chum are also present in higher numbers, but they are
not as widespread as chinook. In recent times chum have experi‐
enced highs and lows.
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Chum are the most important and numerous species on the Por‐
cupine River, a tributary of the Yukon River. Unfortunately, they
are experiencing a long-term depressed population. In the last 23
years since the Yukon River Salmon Agreement has been in place,
the spawning goal has only been met nine times. Very little infor‐
mation is available on chinook and coho in this river.

Then in 2020, we had a salmon crash. All salmon numbers plum‐
meted. Chinook have been at about 12% of the average at the
mouth of the river in the last two years, and up to 40% of them are
dying between the mouth of the river and the border. Chum in the
main stem have had four out of five of the lowest spawning esti‐
mates since 1980 and about 20% of the average spawning escape‐
ment estimate.

Estimates for porcupine chum at the Fishing Branch River weir
in 2020, 2021 and 2022 were the lowest on record since 1971, at
about 5.5% of the average spawning estimate. Last year was slight‐
ly better, I think due to better environmental conditions during the
migration. Numbers of Porcupine River coho for the last two years
have been the lowest on record.

The situation is dire for all the salmon species on the Yukon Riv‐
er. We are legitimately concerned about their extinction. I am sure
we have already lost smaller populations of chinook.

Unfortunately, the solution isn't as easy as stopping fishing. Even
if there were zero harvesting by humans, salmon numbers would
not rebound. Climate change is having a larger impact. Since the
crash, our river has been hot enough to kill salmon. We have sus‐
tained frequent flooding and we have seen low water, with much
more variance than normal, which has affected migrating salmon
and rearing juveniles during the freshwater stages.

The Bering Sea is also warmer than ever. This has impacted the
food web, and salmon are switching prey. This has decreased the
energy available to them and decreased some important nutrients. It
has also resulted in a large increase in Ich disease, which is likely
responsible for a significant number of the chinook dying during
their migration.

We need climate action and we need to support Alaskans with
habitat improvement in the Bering Sea. We also need to watch our
own habitat and ensure that development and other impacts don't
harm salmon. We need to increase our capacity. We have dedicated,
passionate and absolutely wonderful individuals working diligently
to improve things for salmon and fishers in the ecosystems on both
sides of the border. The amount of passion and knowledge that we
collectively share is incredible.

We have truly accomplished so much, but there simply aren't
enough of us to do all the work. This is particularly true for my first
nation colleagues, as most Yukon first nation governments don't
even have a dedicated salmon person. Instead, staff cover many
species. Each first nation needs its own dedicated salmon staff, so
they can focus on restoration work and on keeping salmon culture
alive until the salmon recover.

We also need accessible funding so we can do restoration work.
Funding needs to be secure and long term, so we can focus on re‐
building salmon populations and not on administrating funding
agreements.

If we lose salmon, we will be losing more than just food and cul‐
ture. We'll be losing a key ecosystem species. Marine-derived nutri‐
ents are extremely rare 3,200 kilometres from the ocean. If we lose
these, our freshwater terrestrial animals and habitats will also suf‐
fer.

Finally, I want to stress how Alaskan communities depend upon
salmon for food. While this is also true on our side of the border, it
is a larger issue in Alaska. In Alaska some people need to choose
whether to fish illegally or to starve. We need to support Alaskans
so they have better options and in turn can support salmon recov‐
ery.

Thank you.

● (1655)

The Chair: Thank you for that.

You gave me back 30 seconds, so that's a great help.

We'll go to Mr. Arnold now, for six minutes or less.

Go ahead, please.

Mr. Mel Arnold: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I want to thank all the witnesses for their input. Trying to rebuild
our Pacific salmon stocks is of value. I want to start by doing a
round with each of you. I want to ask the same questions.

What are the two biggest threats to these Pacific salmon, and
what do you see as the key levers that can be pulled or the key tools
that can used to remove or mitigate those threats?

Ms. Demuth, perhaps I could start with you, and I'm just going to
go through the list as we have it on our notice of meeting.

What are the two biggest threats and what levers or tools could
be used to mitigate those threats?

Dr. Bathsheba Demuth: Thank you for this question.

I think the two biggest threats.... It came up pretty much in ev‐
eryone's testimony here today that one of them is climate change
and what it's doing both in river and to the Bering Sea. Secondarily,
they can have increased ecosystem pressures in the Bering Sea that
are not directly related to climate change and have to do with large-
scale fishing, which hurts salmon as bycatch but also is changing
the food webs in the Bering Sea in other ways.
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In terms of tools, I think one tool that has been effective in other
situations in the United States, where species are both endangered
but critical for subsistence, is to have a much clearer way of co‐
managing the salmon stocks between first nations and Alaskan na‐
tive communities and the federal and state governments to set prior‐
ities that would be more in line with what Chief Pitka and Dennis
Zimmermann both outlined in thinking about salmon not just as
numbers but in terms of the health of the fish and how they're being
used along the river.

I think that secondly—
Mr. Mel Arnold: I'm going to have to stop you there in order to

get through all four and the further questions I have.

Mr. Zimmermann, you would be next on my list.
Mr. Dennis Zimmermann: Thank you.

I'll predict that a lot of us will have similar thoughts. I'll focus on
two quickly.

I think Elizabeth MacDonald mentioned the physiological stress
of rising water temperatures, which is resulting in a lot of prespawn
mortality. Fish just aren't making it where they used to go. That's a
big threat.

What can we do? For the levers we have to pull, to me, it's about
all the tools in the tool box. Unfortunately, fishery closures are one
of the things we can manage, and we are doing that. That's already
been put on.

Secondly, losing connection to salmon culture is a threat for Pa‐
cific salmon, because if people are not connected to them—first na‐
tions and the general public—we're not going to care and we won't
advocate for them, and there will be a shifting baseline.
● (1700)

Mr. Mel Arnold: Thank you.

Chief Pitka, could you go ahead?
Chief Rhonda Pitka: Yes. Thank you for that question. I appre‐

ciate it.

The two biggest threats I see are also climate change and the
trawl fishery. Shutting down the trawl fisheries and the hatcheries
would decrease some of the threats. The salmon are coming back
smaller and weaker, but that's also because of ocean conditions.
One of those ocean conditions is the trawl fishery and what they're
doing to the herring. It's causing malnutrition in the salmon.

Thank you.
Mr. Mel Arnold: Thank you.

Mrs. MacDonald.
Mrs. Elizabeth MacDonald: Thank you.

I would say climate change again, as being a big one, and then,
as Dennis suggested, people losing connection with salmon is also
a major threat. People aren't connected. They won't go out and fight
for protections for habitat or give up other things to keep the habi‐
tat.

For tools, we definitely have the Yukon River Panel and the joint
technical committee as a way to have coordination across the bor‐
der and work together. I think that's a key tool that we can use and
continue to use.

I also think we need to get food out to people, so that people
aren't in such a bad situation that they have to choose between feed‐
ing family or not eating. I think that's a big tool we could help with,
and it is within our realm of control. Otherwise, restoration is
something that we need to look at, like what Ms. Mayes talked
about earlier with the restoration stewardship centre. It would be a
fantastic thing to happen for all the communities.

Mr. Mel Arnold: Thank you.

I want to turn back to Mr. Zimmermann.

I believe you said that the condition of the fish is not considered
in the treaty or the process. Can you elaborate a little further on
that? Is it just numbers that are used or is it biomass? How is that
discussed and negotiated?

Mr. Dennis Zimmermann: It's purely numbers. In fact, they use
the word “pieces” quite often. It's the number of pieces of salmon,
so that's the essential metric.

We started seeing size declines at the headwaters in particular.
Large fish were disappearing. That, of course, is a productivity is‐
sue: Less fecund fish have fewer eggs.

Rhonda mentioned the changing net size. We were doing that in
relation to trying to preserve and protect the larger chinook. It
should be noted that these chinook were up to eight years old. We
lost the eight-year-olds. We've pretty much lost the seven-year-olds,
and now we're down to four- to six-year-olds. That's a huge canary-
in-the-coal-mine problem.

Mr. Mel Arnold: Thank you.

Basically, as long as the proposed number of fish is getting
through, nothing changes in the ratios or, I guess, the catch or reten‐
tion downstream.

Mr. Dennis Zimmermann: That's correct.

We are reporting on size, sex ratios and various other things now,
and age class. We've always reported on age class, but yes, the ac‐
tual metric for the treaty is the number of fish.

Mr. Mel Arnold: Thank you.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Arnold.

We'll now go to Mr. Hanley for six minutes or less, please.

Mr. Brendan Hanley: Thank you, all of you, for appearing and
for the really interesting and important testimony.

I'd like to begin with Chief Pitka.

You gave very moving testimony. Thank you very much.
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You mentioned that subsistence accounts for less than 1% of to‐
tal take. I'm assuming that the other 99% would be largely related
to the trawl fishery. Could you explain a bit about that and elabo‐
rate?

Chief Rhonda Pitka: In the state of Alaska, 98.2% of the state
total take is the commercial fishery's harvest. About 1% is for sport
harvesters, and the other 1% is the subsistence harvesters, who pri‐
marily use this to feed our families and keep our culture alive.

Thank you.
Mr. Brendan Hanley: When you say “commercial” fishery, can

you just elaborate? What is within that commercial fishery, includ‐
ing what is bycatch and what's deliberate catch?
● (1705)

Chief Rhonda Pitka: I'm not necessarily an expert on the com‐
mercial fishery in the state of Alaska, but it is primarily the pink
salmon harvest in the Gulf of Alaska and also the area M fishery
that are catching most of the salmon. That's where the bycatch is
happening for the Yukon River chinook salmon.

Mr. Brendan Hanley: Thank you.

Lastly, you mentioned in response to Mr. Arnold's questions the
importance of reducing—I'm not sure if you said shutting down or
reducing—the trawl fishery. How could you even begin to do that?
What would be the steps towards doing that? Is there a federal as
well as a state role in addressing that?

Chief Rhonda Pitka: Shutting down the trawl fishery is entirely
within the purview of the U.S. Secretary of the Interior and the De‐
partment of Commerce for the United States federal government,
but it's also within the purview of the State of Alaska. They can
severely limit the number of commercial fishing licences that they
have.

Those numbers account for much higher numbers than the sub‐
sistence harvest has ever had, and cutting down that commercial
fishing harvest and opportunity has had greater effects on the num‐
bers of Yukon River salmon coming back into the river. We saw
that in the 1990s when they shut down commercial fishing around
area M because Bristol Bay was not getting enough fish back into
their rivers and their lakes. We've seen the effects that it's had. It's
been fairly effective.

Thank you.
Mr. Brendan Hanley: Thanks very much.

Mr. Zimmerman, we've had many conversations, of course.
We've travelled together to Washington, D.C., along with Chief
Tom, who was on the previous panel, and Senator Duncan.

One of the things I remember that most struck me in our conver‐
sations was that you said what's happening in the Yukon River is
like a harbinger for the entire west coast salmon. I wonder if you
could talk about that for a bit.

Mr. Dennis Zimmermann: Thank you, MP Hanley. I appreciate
the question.

Absolutely, and one of the things we realize.... I happen to be in
Vancouver right now at the Pacific Salmon Treaty negotiations for
another chapter, so I have the unique advantage of being able to see

these various panels and fisheries along the west coast. I mean, the
Yukon is unique. It's a northern species. They're uniquely adapted
to the north. We're seeing declines across the entire west coast.
These are large prolific chinook that obviously are special to every‐
one—everyone's salmon is special.

We have an opportunity with these fish. If we can actually con‐
serve and rebuild these fish, I think we have an opportunity to be a
template for essentially what will happen. There are multiple active
commercial interests along the west coast for Pacific salmon. We're
largely talking about subsistence fishers that are united on this
front. There are similar international interests. There could be cohe‐
sion in that regard. I guess from my perspective I think it's worth....
We have an opportunity to essentially support these northern
species, which I think can trickle down and provide that impetus for
saving all the stocks along the Pacific coast.

Mr. Brendan Hanley: Thanks very much.

Elizabeth, I'll move over to you. Given your position with the
Council of Yukon First Nations, I know that you're very familiar
with governance. We don't have time to go over the intricacies of
governance, but maybe you could talk about the importance of un‐
derstanding between the levels of government and how important it
is that we understand that relationship, especially considering the
Umbrella Final Agreement.

Mrs. Elizabeth MacDonald: Yes, and I know that Tim will
speak more on the Yukon Salmon Sub-Committee and the manage‐
ment role that plays at a later date. However, it's really important
that governments work together and that we have a good relation‐
ship—Yukon first nations' governments, the Yukon territorial gov‐
ernment and then the federal government as well—particularly
around the work with the Yukon River Panel. We need to all be say‐
ing the same things and moving towards the same goal. I feel like
we're currently doing that, and we're making great headway. Even
just a year ago, we weren't all moving in the same direction, and
you can see what a difference it has made for the salmon on the
salmon front.

It's really key, and having first nations advisers at the Yukon Riv‐
er Panel and having those direct connections has been absolutely
fantastic. It really does allow people along the river to have an in‐
put on those processes, which means that people buy into them
more, which is exactly what we need.

● (1710)

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Hanley.

We'll now go to Madame Desbiens for six minutes or less,
please.

[Translation]

Mrs. Caroline Desbiens: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I have just a couple of questions, and I'm going to share my time
with Mr. Hanley, because this is an area of particular interest to him
and it's all a little far away from Quebec. That said, Quebec has
salmon, too, as well as other issues that are similar at times.
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Mr. Zimmermann, you talked about bycatch. I heard someone
else talk to you about the pollock fishery, which was removing bil‐
lions of tonnes of biomass.

Does that factor continue to have a serious impact on the
biomass as a whole, as we've heard from the witnesses today?

[English]
Mr. Dennis Zimmermann: Yes. I will also admit that I'm not an

expert in this particular area, but I do know that over the years it
was a significant issue for Yukon River chinook. The practices im‐
proved. There were observers. There were various things that they
did to ensure that those catches were minimized. My understanding
is that they have crept up again, so this is something that we're al‐
ways trying to work on and make sure that we advocate for.

I think there are some significant high-seas issues that the Yukon
and Alaska, Canada and the U.S., can align together on—this area
of fishery, which is something that Chief Rhonda Pitka brought for‐
ward.

Again, it is one of those things that we have control over. It is
very much salt in the wound, in that there are still some of these
high-seas commercial fisheries taking place while all subsistence
fishers on the Yukon River in Alaska and the Yukon are.... In prin‐
ciple, that in itself is probably the deepest wound that we're dealing
with, and frankly it's quite offensive to everyone on the in-river
who's not able to fish.

[Translation]
Mrs. Caroline Desbiens: That's kind of what we're seeing on the

east coast.

Mr. Hanley, the rest of my time is yours.
Mr. Brendan Hanley: Thank you very much, Mrs. Desbiens.

[English]
The Chair: You have three and a half minutes.
Mr. Brendan Hanley: This is great.

I didn't get to ask Professor Demuth any questions.

You have a history that goes back to your residence in Old Crow
in the Yukon, I believe, so you're very familiar with the Yukon.
However, you're also a researcher, and from what I understand, you
have experience in researching the biological and hydrological life
of the Yukon River watershed.

I wonder if you could talk about the overall ecological impact
and importance of the chinook salmon as a flagship species of the
river system and also of the boreal forest.

Dr. Bathsheba Demuth: Yes, absolutely.

I think one of the most amazing facts about chinook that encap‐
sulates just how important they are is that, if you do isotopic re‐
search into boreal forest tree species—spruce and other species that
line the banks—you find the nitrogen isotopes that come from chi‐
nook salmon, because one of the major things they do in their life
cycle is bring the nutrients of the Bering Sea thousands of kilome‐
tres inland to ecosystems that otherwise don't have access to them.

They're absolutely critical to the basic ecological function of this
entire ecosystem in a way that's difficult to underestimate. We don't
know what a Yukon River watershed looks like if it does not have
the nitrogen that fish carry up and give not just to the plants but to
the entire food web, from very small invertebrates in the stream
systems all the way up through to bears, eagles and the kind of
wildlife we like to have on our calendars.

They're truly critical in that sense. The ability for these fish to
maintain this nutrient cycle is really fundamental to the functioning
of the river, biologically and culturally.

Mr. Brendan Hanley: Thank you.

This is a question for Chief Pitka, and I feel like I'm asking this
on behalf of Mr. Small, who's not currently at the committee. Could
you talk about seal predation, and whether that is an issue that af‐
fects west coast salmon species at all?

● (1715)

Chief Rhonda Pitka: I'm not really sure. The place where we
live on the Yukon River is so far in the interior that we don't actual‐
ly get seals, so I don't have enough information to answer that.

Mr. Brendan Hanley: Does anyone have information to answer
that? I know it's a question that has been brought up.

Ms. Demuth.

Dr. Bathsheba Demuth: I've never heard of seals identified on
the Alaskan side. There has been discussions of beluga whales,
which spend a lot of time down by the mouth of the Yukon and cer‐
tainly eat salmon. My understanding is that they are not at the level
that has been discussed on the Canadian coast, however.

Mr. Brendan Hanley: Thank you. Let's put that one to rest.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Hanley. I'm sure Mr. Small will be
delighted to know you brought up seals and not sea lice.

We'll now go to Ms. Barron for six minutes or less, please.

Ms. Lisa Marie Barron: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Thank you to all the witnesses here.

Should I be pausing?

The Chair: Please wait one second, Ms. Barron.

That's the 30-minute bell. We'll certainly get in the last round, if
everyone is in agreement. Can we go to 5:30? There are 29 minutes
left before the vote.

Some hon. members: Agreed.

The Chair: We'll go to you, Ms. Barron.

Ms. Lisa Marie Barron: That's great. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Thank you to the witnesses.
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I was just reflecting on the fact that I wish our witnesses were
spread out over multiple meetings, because there's so much great
testimony. It feels very rushed, and it feels like we're not able to re‐
ally ask questions to the degree that I would like to. I can't speak on
behalf of my fellow committee members, but for that, it's unfortu‐
nate.

I want to reiterate and ask that you please send along written in‐
formation. I know the chair will say that, but I hope I can pick from
the written components to support the recommendations moving
forward.

There has been so much great testimony provided.

Chief Pitka, you talked about the importance of subsistence har‐
vesting and being told that, despite accounting for less than 1% of
the statewide harvesting, this is where the finger was being pointed
for where the problem lay. Can you tell us a bit about that and how
important it is to have that traditional knowledge when making de‐
cisions on how to best move forward?

Chief Rhonda Pitka: Yes. Thank you for that question.

The total harvest take of the chinook salmon in the Yukon River
has traditionally been 25% of the Canadian harvest share for the
United States for the upper Yukon River. Historically it's been such
a low number that it's been about 10 years since it has been ade‐
quate to meet the need for our subsistence, according to the compu‐
tation on the State of Alaska website. They have all of that informa‐
tion readily available there, but I can send some more detailed writ‐
ten testimony around it. I could go on for 16 hours, but you have
about 29 minutes.

The traditional knowledge around that is that we take only what
we need from the Yukon River, especially our subsistence fisher‐
men. Our traditional way of life has been greatly challenged by the
lack of fish. Part of what we know about the fisheries and the chal‐
lenges associated with them is that it's never been our harvest that's
been the culprit, that's been the problem. It's always been outside
influences, whether regulations, lack of salmon due to climate
change or, in the 1900s, having a net put across the Yukon River so
nobody could get fish. It's always been outside people who have
impacted our harvest greatly, and that's been a note of contention.

Ms. Lisa Marie Barron: Thank you very much.

Ms. Demuth, I believe you were talking about old tools being
used and the problems with these old tools being used. I believe
you said that leads to “invasive” harvesting, but that's a word that I
wrote down that I can't quite differentiate.

Can you tell us a little bit more about what you were speaking
about when you spoke to that in your testimony?
● (1720)

Dr. Bathsheba Demuth: Absolutely. Thank you, because I had
to rush that at the end.

What I was referring to was the design of the Yukon River Panel.
Many people here have spoken about how it's been quite effective
at bringing the United States and Canada together and bringing first
nations and Alaskan native voices to the discussion. It's also de‐
signed in such a way that it regulates salmon only within the Yukon

River itself, rather than having jurisdiction and a remit over the
ocean where they spend so much of their lives.

The Yukon River Panel can do everything it possibly can—and it
is doing that in many cases—within the river system itself, but
where the Yukon River salmon spend so much of their lives is in
the oceans. Therefore, they are subject to other kinds of regulation
or a lack of regulation, as the case may be, in that space. Does that
clarify?

Ms. Lisa Marie Barron: It does. Thank you. I'll update my
notes accordingly.

I wonder if you could expand a little bit more on what you were
referencing around the bycatch, what you're seeing and perhaps
some solutions you can see around that issue.

Dr. Bathsheba Demuth: Sure. I'm sure the other panellists here
can also speak to this.

The issue of bycatch primarily has to do with the pollock fishery,
which is a large-scale trawling fishery in the Bering Sea that re‐
moves about three billion pounds of pollock per year. That's just the
pollock. That's actually not counting the various other species that
get caught up in the process. Those include lots of other kinds of
fish. Those sometimes include orca, and it is a very invasive fishery
from a biological standpoint.

Like most fisheries, it's regulated and assessed in terms of
whether or not the single species it harvests is sustainable. Yes, you
can take three billion pounds of pollock out of the Bering Sea every
year and you will have three billion pounds next year, but that does
not assess the Bering Sea as an ecological space, which means fish
like salmon can get caught up in it literally as bycatch when they're
hauled in with the nets for pollock.

That process has been improved in the past 15 years, so there's
more emphasis on not catching chinook in particular. There are also
lots of reports of that monitoring process being less than perfect. It
also does not account for the ways in which that fishery changes the
entire Bering Sea ecosystem more generally in ways that are com‐
pounding the climate change issue with respect to the success of
chinook when they're at sea.

The Chair: Thank you, Ms. Barron.

Thank you to our witnesses for sharing their valuable informa‐
tion with the committee as we work our way through this study.
That concludes everything.

I just want to remind everyone that today we approved the mo‐
tion that February 27 and 29 would be for the study that was refer‐
enced by Madame Desbiens, but I'd like to carve off some time in
that first meeting for committee business—even 45 minutes.

Mr. Arnold.
Mr. Mel Arnold: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I recognize that Mrs. Desbiens had some urgency around her
study. On Mr. Perkins' motion that we look at the elver fishery be‐
cause of the timeline of when that season was to open, there are ap‐
parently only 10 days of consultation taking place right now on
that. I think we need to have discussion amongst the committee as
to what comes first before we....



February 15, 2024 FOPO-99 19

The Chair: Okay, but like I said, we've already approved the
27th and the 29th. What I'd like to do is to take 45 minutes on the
27th to discuss that very issue and the schedule going forward—
say, the last 45 minutes. If we need a bit of extra time, maybe we
can rob a little bit of it, with 15 minutes or something added on if
we can. If there's nothing pressing behind us, we can do it that way.
I do know that the motion includes the 27th and the 29th.

Madame Desbiens, go ahead quickly, please.
[Translation]

Mrs. Caroline Desbiens: Um...
[English]

The Chair: What does that mean?
[Translation]

Mrs. Caroline Desbiens: Let me take this opportunity to thank
our interpreters, who do amazing work. Thank you very much.

I feel that 45 minutes is a lot, especially since that's going to be
cut from my time.

Would it be possible to shorten that to 15 minutes?
[English]

The Chair: It might be, if everything goes quickly and smoothly,
but we have yours to deal with, which we know is for the 27th and
29th. We have to know what's coming next, because Ms. Barron
had a motion, Mr. Arnold has indicated that he wants to discuss the
elver fishery and, of course, we still have the Yukon study on the go
as well. We'll use as little time as possible for committee business,
but if we could start.... Because your motion indicated the 27th, we
have to start on the 27th and the 29th. That was in your motion.

Mr. Cormier, go ahead quickly, please.
● (1725)

Mr. Serge Cormier: Mr. Chair, I think if you read the motion of
Mrs. Desbiens very carefully, it said the 27th for two hours and the
29th for two hours. This is what we voted on, and I think we should
respect that.

The bells are ringing.

The Chair: If I can find some extra time to add to one of the
meetings, we'll do some committee business.

Ms. Barron, go ahead quickly.
Ms. Lisa Marie Barron: Thank you.

I was just going to say as well that I don't know if it's actually
necessary, because we already know the order of when the studies
are happening. If there's an additional motion to come forward,
then it can come forward for us to debate, but I don't know if we
really need time to go through it when we already know the order
of the studies as listed.

The Chair: Mr. Hanley, go ahead quickly, please.
Mr. Brendan Hanley: I'm sorry. I was so excited about salmon I

forgot to ask during my speaking time for the consent of the com‐
mittee to resubmit the travel submission we had previously submit‐
ted. This is as part of the Yukon study. It's already been all costed
out.

The Chair: You're determined to try it again.
Mr. Brendan Hanley: I'm determined to try it again if the com‐

mittee would support the travel submission.
The Chair: I'm not seeing any noes, so that will be submitted

again, Mr. Hanley, at your leisure.

Thank you, everyone.

Thank you to our witnesses. Thank you to our clerk, our analysts
and, of course, our translation team and the team at the table who
make it possible for this meeting to take place each and every day.

Madame Desbiens.
[Translation]

Mrs. Caroline Desbiens: How can we be sure the minister will
be here on the 27th? Will this go as planned?
[English]

The Chair: I can check it with the clerk.
Mrs. Caroline Desbiens: Okay.
The Chair: The meeting is adjourned.
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